1989

Kathleen M. Thomas; Elsie Merrill; Lewis J.  
Merrill; Stephen J. Merrill; Alvin S. Merrill; George  
A. Merrill; Margaret M. Durfee; and Annie M.  
Dutson v. Jamis M. Johnson : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

Jurisdiction of the Court to hear this appeal is conferred by Rule 3 of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court and Section 78-2-2(3)(j), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. This appeal is from a judgment in favor of Plaintiff after a bench trial before the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick.

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the trial court err in its rulings at the trial refusing admission of prior independent evidence of the market value of the subject real property?

Was the trustee sale invalid as a matter of law for the trustee's failure to accept a bid for a sum certain at the time of sale?

Was the judgment establishing the fair market value at \$21,750 against the weight of the evidence?

### STATUTES AND RULES

The statutes considered herein are Utah Code Annotated Section 57-1-27, 28, and 32; and Utah Rules of Evidence - Rule 401.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to recover a deficiency after a trust deed foreclosure. The matter was tried before the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick without a jury. The Honorable J. Dennis Frederick found for the Plaintiffs and awarded a deficiency judgment in the amount of \$7,872.62 and an award of attorney's fees in the sum of

\$4,980 for a total amount of \$12,852.62. The facts before the court are as follows:

On September 12, 1984, the Defendant purchased from the Plaintiffs the real property, that is the subject of this action, for the sum of \$33,000. There was an \$8,000 down-payment with the balance evidenced by a \$25,000 trust deed note secured by a deed of trust on the subject property. Complaint, District Court file, (hereafter "DCF") p. 6, and Trial Transcript (hereafter "TT"), p. 26. On November 20, 1984, the property was appraised for possible refinancing in behalf of a financial institution at \$39,000. This evidence was not allowed by the Court. TT p. 29 and p. 163-164. On September 5, 1985, the property was sold by Defendant to Mr. Robert B. Stonehocker. TT p. 156. Mr. Robert Stonehocker entered into a contract with the Defendant to purchase the property for \$45,000. This evidence was not allowed by the Court. TT p. 163.

The Defendant's purchaser, Mr. Robert Stonehocker, defaulted after February, 1987. TT p. 27 and p. 160, and the Plaintiffs proceeded to foreclose the trust deed. The trustee sale was set for November 24, 1987. TT p. 11. The sale took place as scheduled and the trustee deed was delivered to the Plaintiffs the same day. Kathleen M. Thomas appeared at the sale for herself and on behalf of the Plaintiffs. Ms. Kathleen Thomas did not make a bid of a sum certain at the sale. TT p. 25. As a matter of fact, the bid price of \$22,000 was not determined until after thirty (30) days later, after Plaintiffs' expert appraised

the property at \$21,750. TT p. 80. The Plaintiffs testified that they were prepared to bid \$26,000 at the trustee sale, but did not because no one else showed up at sale. TT p. 13. Within a week of the trustee sale, the Plaintiffs listed the property for approximately \$32,000 based on the recommendation of one of the Plaintiff's expert witness, Joan Ruston Carlson, a realtor. TT p. 30 and p. 43. Ms. Joan Carlson, after a market analysis, felt that the "condition justified the price (\$32,000) at that time (December 7, 1987)." TT p. 33 and 34.

The Plaintiffs reduced the listing price of the property from \$32,000 to \$22,000 on February 1, 1988. TT p. 47. The property was then immediately purchased by the neighbor who had expressed his willingness to so purchase the property at this price to Plaintiffs' realtor. On or about February 22, 1988, the Defendant was first advised of the deficiency and that was also the first notice that the Defendant was only receiving \$22,000 credit against the trust deed note obligation. DCF p. 1 and TT p. 168.

The Plaintiffs' expert appraiser, Mr. Paul H. Maritsas, concluded that the market value of the property as of December 23, 1987, thirty days after the trustee sale, was \$21,750. TT p. 80. Plaintiffs' offered no appraisal on expert testimony of the value as of the date of the sale. Mr. Maritsas' appraisal was conducted pursuant to FHA guidelines. TT p. 90. One such guideline is HUD regulation 408.02, dated March 3, 1986. TT p. 93 and Exhibit #4. This regulation required that the gross

adjustments can not exceed 25 percent of the comparables' sale price. Mr. Maritsas conceded that none of his three comparables were within the FHA guidelines. His comparable #1 has a 43 percent variance or 18 percent more than allowed by guidelines. Comparable #2 has a variance of 31 percent or 6 percent more than allowed by the guidelines. The last comparable was the closest to the limits set by the guidelines at 27 percent, but even it was outside of the recommended range of acceptable comparables. TT p. 97 to p 98.

Additionally, Mr. Maritsas' comparable #1 was a sale that did not occur until after the trustee sale. TT p. 89. Comparable #1 was actually sold for \$37,500, and Mr. Maritsas' comparables #2 and #3 were actually sold for \$32,860 and \$29,900 respectively.

Mr. Maritsas further conceded that the value of real properties in Salt Lake County during the time the Defendant was in possession of the subject property was decreasing at the rate of five or six percent or a decrease of a total of 20 percent to 24 percent over the four-year period. Mr. Maritsas further conceded that a decrease of 52 percent in value of the subject property, based on his appraisal, was somewhat unusual.

Mr. Richard Koplin, certified appraiser, performed an appraisal for the subject real property on behalf of the Defendant and placed the fair market value of the property at the time of the trustee sale at \$31,800. TT p. 139 and Exhibit #5.

Mr. Koplin's comparables were closer in size and configuration to the subject property and required far less adjustment.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Point I. The Court erred in excluding relevant evidence as to valuation of the property. Utah case law allows evidence of prior valuation. In this case, over four appraisals or transactions of the property (two involving Plaintiff) were excluded, all of which set the value of the property at substantially higher than Plaintiffs' allegations.

Point II. The trustee sale is invalid as a matter of law for four reasons.

- (1) The statutory scheme contemplates the trustee to sell the trust property to the highest bidder. The trustee violated the statute by failing to accept a specific bid of a sum certain, and accordingly, the sale must be held invalid.
- (2) The unreasonable delay in setting a bid price until 30 days after the sale is tantamount to positioning the sale beyond 72 hours without re-noticing the sale as required by Section 57-1-34, UCA, (as amended 1953). The sale is, accordingly invalid.
- (3) The trustee violated the specific instructions of the trust deed that the purchase price must be "payable in lawful money of the United States at the time of the sale," and accordingly, the sale must be invalid.
- (4) The unreasonable delay in determining the bid price and just noticing the Defendant of the deficiency almost three months after the sale is an unfair impairment of the Defendant trustor's interest.

Point III. The court ignored the clear weight of the evidence and accepted only Plaintiffs' appraiser's estimate of value despite numerous mistakes in Plaintiffs' appraisal and despite the facts that (i) Plaintiff's expert realtor set the price higher than the Plaintiffs' appraiser; (ii) Plaintiff's appraisal contained comparables grossly out of proportion to Plaintiffs' appraiser's final estimation of value and in violation of Standard FHA guidelines, (iii) Defendant's appraisal was almost exactly what Plaintiffs' and Plaintiffs' realtor's market analysis of value of the property was; and, (iv) Defendant's appraiser's comparables were far closer to the

subject property in price and configuration and were in conformity with FHA guidelines.

#### ARGUMENT

Point I: THE COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING EVIDENCE OF THE FAIR MARKET VALUE OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ON THE BASIS THAT SAID EVIDENCE WAS NOT RELEVANT.

The Defendant attempted to introduce the following evidence, but was not allowed by the Court on the basis that the evidence was not relevant on the issue of the fair market value at the time of the trustee sale, November 24, 1987:

- (1) An appraisal report by Jauffer Appraising had by Plaintiffs' setting the fair market value as of November 26, 1983 at \$45,000.
- (2) The sale of the property to the Defendant for the price of \$33,000 on September 21, 1984.
- (3) The appraisal by Paul J. Lund on behalf of Congressional Mortgage, Inc., setting the fair market value at \$39,000 as of November 20, 1984.
- (4) The sale from the Defendant to a Mr. Robert Stonehocker on September 1, 1985 for \$45,000.

The Court simply ruled in each instance that the evidence was not relevant. Rule 401 of the Utah Rules of Evidence defined "relevant evidence" to mean "...evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." (Emphasis added). The critical factual issue before the District Court in this case was the determination of the fair market value of the subject property at the time of the trustee sale on November 24, 1984. Clearly, any valuation of the subject property has a tendency to

make the existence of a certain fair market value of the subject property more probable than it would be without it. The fact that one item of the offered evidence was a valuation made four years before the present valuation does not make it irrelevant. Please see Terry v. Zions Mercantile Inst., 605 p. 2nd 314 (Ut. 1979). Additionally, in the recent case of Christenson v. Jewkes, 761 p. 2nd 1375 (Ut. 1988), the District Court allowed evidence of a six-year old valuation, which the jury relied upon, despite the testimony of the expert witnesses. This Court acknowledged, without rejecting the old valuation as irrelevant, that the jury may very well have based the verdict on the six-year old valuation. Christenson, supra at 1378.

The District Court's error is not harmless since it excludes evidence that goes to the heart of the issue, the fair market value. Accordingly, the Court should reverse and set aside the erroneous judgment of the lower court.

Point II. THE TRUSTEE SALE IS INVALID AS A MATTER OF LAW.

The Defendant/Appellant contends that the trustee sale is invalid for the following reasons:

- (1) The statutory scheme contemplates the trustee to sell the trust property to the highest bidder. The trustee violated the statute by failing to accept a specific bid of a sum certain, and accordingly, the sale must be held invalid.
- (2) The unreasonable delay in setting a bid price until 30 days after the sale is tantamount to positioning the sale beyond 72 hours without re-noticing the sale as required by Section 57-1-34, UCA, (as amended 1953). The sale is, accordingly invalid.



- (3) The trustee violated the specific instructions of the trust deed that the purchase price must be "payable in lawful money of the United States at the time of the sale," and accordingly, the sale must be invalid.
- (4) The unreasonable delay in determining the bid price and just noticing the Defendant of the deficiency almost three months after the sale is an unfair impairment of the Defendant trustor's interest.

Each of the above reasons are discussed separately below.

A. THE TRUSTEE SALE IS INVALID BECAUSE THE TRUSTEE FAILED TO SELL THE PROPERTY TO THE HIGHEST BIDDER.

The relevant statute, in pertinent part, requires that the trustee shall sell the property at public auction to the highest bidder:

- (1) On the date of sale and at the time and place designated in the Notice of Sale, the trustee or the attorney for the trustee shall sell the property to the highest bidder...57-1-27 UCA (as amended 1953).

American Heritage Dictionary defines sell as "1. to exchange for money or its equivalent...." The statute clearly requires the trustee to exchange the trust property at the place, date and time of the sale for money or money equivalent. This did not happen.

Furthermore, the statute contemplates that bids were to be made and the trustee was required to accept the highest bid. Black's Law Dictionary defines "bid" as "an offer by an intending purchaser to pay a designated price for property which is about to be sold at auction." Ms. Kathleen Thomas, on behalf of the Plaintiffs and creditors, admitted that no bid of money or money

equivalent was made at the time of the sale. The trustee and the Plaintiffs/creditors, failed to comply with the strict requirement of the statute and the sale must, accordingly, be invalidated. The trustee, who is also the Plaintiffs' attorney, knew, at the time of sale, that the Plaintiffs were prepared to bid in \$26,000, but did not require that bid. Such bid would have wiped out any alleged deficiency against Defendant.

**B. THE TRUSTEE SALE WAS INVALID AS VIOLATIVE OF THE STATUTE REQUIRING RE-NOTICE OF THE SALE IF THE POSTPONEMENT IS MORE THAN 72 HOURS.**

The relevant statute, in pertinent part, requires that;

- (1) The person conducting the sale may, for any cause, he considers expedient, postpone the sale up to a period not to exceed 72 hours.... No other notice of the postponed sale is required, unless the sale is postponed for longer than 72 hours beyond the date designated in the Notice of Sale. In the event of a longer postponement, the sale shall be cancelled and re-noticed in the same manner as the original Notice of Sale is required to be given. UCA 57-1-27 (As amended 1953). (Emphasis added)

The evidence before the Court shows that the designated bid price of \$22,000 was not determined until after 30 days of the sale and the Defendant/trustor was not advised of the bid price until almost three months after the sale. The statute contemplates that the trustee would receive bids of designated price at the sale and the trustee was required to sell at the time of the sale to the highest bidder. The trustee did not receive a bid nor a designated price at the time of the sale. The statute requires that the trustee should then postpone the sale, and if the postponement is beyond 72 hours, the trustee

should have re-noticed the sale. The trustee failed to do this. The trustee sale is invalid as a matter of law for failure to comply with the statutory requirements of the conduct of the sale.

C. THE TRUSTEE VIOLATED THE SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS OF THE TRUST DEED.

The trustor, which is the grantor of the trustee's power to sell the property, is entitled to have his directions obeyed.

Fuller v. Q'Neal, 6 SW 181 (1887).

The grantor's right is absolute.

The right of a grantor of a deed of trust to have its provisions strictly complied with to effect a valid foreclosure sale is absolute. Harwarth v. Hudson, 654 SW 2nd 851 (Tex. App. 1983)

One of the trustor's instructions was that the purchase price must be "payable in lawful money of the United States at the time of sale." The trustee failed to follow the strict instruction of the power of sale by not accepting a bid payable in lawful money of the United States at the time of the sale. The trustee sale must be set aside for the foregoing reason.

D. THE UNREASONABLE DELAY ON DESIGNATING THE BID PRICE IS AN UNFAIR IMPAIRMENT OF DEFENDANT'S INTEREST.

The Defendant/Appellant received the notice of the trustee sale, but was confident that the fair market value of the property was sufficient to protect his interest, particularly since he had substantial equity of at least \$8,000 in the property. TT p. 171. No bid was made at the time of sale and the Defendant/Appellant was not advised of the bid price of

\$22,000 and the resulting deficiency until three months later, two days before the commencement of this action.

The Defendant/Appellant obtained an independent appraisal which concluded that the market value was \$31,800 at the time of the trustee sale. Since this appraisal was done seven months after the sale, the appraiser could not give an opinion as to the condition of the property at the time of the sale. The District Court was persuaded that the Defendant's expert was less accurate because his appraisal was completed at a later time and that he lacked knowledge of the condition of the premises at the time of the foreclosure sale. TT p. 179 and 180.

If the designated bid price of \$22,000 was made at the time of the sale, the Defendant could have immediately obtained an appraisal which would have been close to the time of the sale. The actions of the Plaintiffs and the failure of the trustee to comply with the statutory requirements and instructions of the deed of trust, placed Defendant/appellant in an unfair disadvantage, and this Court must correct the inequity here by setting aside the trustee sale.

Point III.        THE JUDGMENT ADOPTING THE FAIR MARKET VALUE  
                     DETERMINATION BY MR. PAUL H. MARITSAS IS  
                     AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The substantial weight of the evidence before the Court would clearly establish a fair market value in excess of \$30,000.

In a week after sale, the Plaintiffs' realtor conducted a market analysis and concluded that the price of \$32,000 was justified by the condition of the property at that time. All of

the evidence of fair market value excluded by the District Court established the fair market value of the property at well over \$30,000. Mr. Maritsas' testimony that properties in Salt Lake County declined in value by five to six percent a year, would also support a finding of a fair market value of at least \$35,000. Finally, appraiser, Richard Koplin, using comparables that closely resembles the subject property, found a market value, consistent with all other evidence, to be \$31,800.

Against all this evidence, the Court chose to adopt the valuation by Mr. Maritsas. Mr. Maritsas' valuation was made and established a value as of December 23, 1987, thirty days after the sale. One of the comparables used by Mr. Maritsas admittedly did not exist at the time of the sale. Mr. Maritsas conducted an FHA appraisal, but he admitted using all three comparables that were not within FHA guidelines.

The comparables used by Mr. Maritsas were sold for \$37,500, \$32,860, and \$29,900. Except for the arbitrary reduction by Mr. Maritsas of \$10,000 for condition, his comparables also support a fair market value of over \$30,000. Incidentally, every item identified by Mr. Maritsas that was the result of the poor condition and needed repair, were all listed as average. TT p. 104 and p. 105. Mr. Maritsas testified that this was a mistake or a typographical error. The error was, of course, repeated eight times.

Errors were not uncommon in Mr. Maritsas' appraisal report. The legal description of the subject property was in error. TT

P. 111. The site area was incorrect. TT p. 112, and the plat map was of a lot across the street. TT p. 113. All of the errors were blamed on Mr. Maritsas' leg man. TT p. 113. Incidentally, as soon as Mr. Maritsas' appraisal was concluded, Plaintiff's realtor was ordered to immediately sell the property to the neighbor for the price the neighbor had proposed, which was essentially the appraisal price.

The Defendant's expert inspected the property and developed his appraisal in conformity with accepted appraisal principles and obtained an appraisal price of \$31,800, which is almost exactly what Plaintiff's testified they thought the property was worth and what Plaintiff's witness, realtor, Joan Carlson, estimate of market value was for the property also. The only evidence of a lower price for the property is Plaintiff's appraiser and his appraisal is dramatically below six other indicia of value (four of which indicia were deemed irrelevant, i.e., an appraisal of Plaintiffs' four years earlier, the price of the sale to Defendant, and appraisal of a mortgage company, the sale by Defendant to Stonehocker) and the admitted evidence of the market analysis of Plaintiffs' realtor and Defendant's appraisers' estimate of value.

#### CONCLUSION

Thus, it is clear that Plaintiff's judgment should be overturned for the following reasons:

1. The trial court wrongfully excluded extensive relevant evidence on the valuation of the property, all tending to show a much higher value for this property.

2. The trustee sale is invalid because:

- A. There was no bid at the sale, even though Plaintiffs were prepared to bid in \$26,000, which would have removed any deficiency.
- B. The sale should either have been postponed for 72 hours as provided by statute or re-noticed, but was not.
- C. The trustee violated instructions that the sale must be in lawful money of the United States and the sale is invalid.
- D. The trustee effectively delayed establishing a price and thus a deficiency until several months after the sale, which impairs the ability of a trustor to obtain current relevant information.

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