1989

Kathleen M. Thomas; Elsie Merrill; Lewis J.
Merrill; Stephen J. Merrill; Alvin S. Merrill; George
A. Merrill; Margaret M. Durfee; and Annie M.
Dutson v. Jamis M. Johnson : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Judge J. Dennis Frederick identified in open court that evidence which he perceived to be persuasive with regard to a

determination of fair market value of the property. His finding is supported by the weight of the evidence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR FAIR MARKET
VALUE OF THE PROPERTY.

Defendant objects to the trial court's refusal to permit evidence of the value of the Grant Street property two, three and four years before the date for which the court was required to determine fair market value.

Section 57-1-32, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, outlines the findings to be made by the court in an action to recover the unpaid balance due upon an obligation secured by a trust deed lien against real property where the property has been foreclosed by power of sale and sold at trustee's sale. The text of the Section is hereto appended. It reads in pertinent part:

Before rendering judgment, the court shall find the fair market value at the date of sale of the property sold.

The trustee's sale of the property occurred November 24, 1987. Tr. 11, 12. Defendant contends that the court wrongfully refused to accept his proffer of evidence of (1) a November 26, 1983 appraisal report, (2) the price Defendant paid to Plaintiffs to purchase the property on September 21, 1984, (3) an appraisal report of fair market value on November 20, 1984, and (4) the

price at which Defendant resold the property on September 1, 1985 to Mr. Robert Stonehocker. The record will show that evidence of the price Defendant paid to purchase the property was already before the court at the time of his proffer and further, that he made no proffer of evidence as to either the November, 1983 appraisal or the November, 1984 appraisal.

Defendant sought to elicit testimony from Kathleen Thomas as to whether she had obtained an appraisal of the property prior to the September, 1984 sale to the Defendant. Tr. 29. Plaintiff's objection as to relevancy was sustained. Defendant made no proffer as to the evidence sought to be elicited. He now contends that he was seeking evidence of a written appraisal report setting fair market value at a date in 1983, some four years prior to the valuation date with which the court was concerned. Assuming that the court had required Mrs. Thomas to testify that she had obtained such an appraisal, it then would have been required to address the hearsay ramifications inherent in considering the opinion of value as represented by the report and in determining the weight to be accorded the report. Defendant did not represent to the court that he was prepared to introduce the report or call as a witness the appraiser whose work and opinion it represented. An appropriate proffer was not made.

Defendant testified that he had purchased the property from Plaintiffs in about September of 1984. The court thereupon sustained Plaintiff's objection on relevancy grounds to Defendant's testimony of the price which he had paid for the property. Tr. 162. However, Defendant had previously elicited testimony from Kathleen Thomas that in purchasing the property, he had paid Plaintiffs a down payment of \$8,000.00 and delivered to them his promissory note for \$25,000.00. Tr. 26. In other words, evidence of his \$33,000.00 purchase price for the property was already before the court.

There is no basis in the record for Defendant's contention that he was refused an opportunity to provide evidence as to an appraisal obtained from Paul J. Lund as of November 20, 1984. No such proffer was made and therefore none was rejected. At no time did the Defendant make any inquiry with regard to a November, 1984 appraisal or with regard to one prepared by Paul J. Lund or one prepared on behalf of Congressional Mortgage, Inc. Once again, the Defendant was asked by his attorney to testify as to the price which he paid to purchase the property in September, 1984, and the price for which he sold the property to Robert Stonehocker in September of 1985. Tr. 162, 163. It is impossible to find any attempt to introduce testimony with regard to a November, 1984 appraisal. There is neither Defendant's proffer nor the court's rejection.

The court precluded, as not relevant, Defendant's testimony of the price at which he resold the property to Robert Stonehocker in September of 1985. Tr. 163, 164. Mr. Stonehocker had previously testified that he took the property from Mr. Johnson as a trade in a real estate transaction. Tr. 156. Clearly, the price assigned by the Defendant and Mr. Stonehocker to the property for trade purposes could not alone be relevant. Further evidence would be required as to what extent the exchange of properties determined the value then assigned to the property and as to adjustments necessary to bring that value in line with a non-exchange price.

Irrespective of whether any or all of the evidence rejected by the court can stand the test of relevancy, the precluding of that evidence would not constitute reversible error. In State v. Verde, 770 P.2d 116, 120 (1989), the Utah Supreme Court determined:

Errors we label 'harmless' are errors which, although properly preserved below and presented on appeal, are sufficiently inconsequential that we conclude there is no reasonable likelihood that the error affected the outcome of the proceedings.

The evidence presented by the Defendant would lead one to conclude that the rejected testimony would not have affected the court's finding as to fair market value. Defendant's own appraiser, Richard Copeland, opined that the fair market value at the applicable valuation date was \$31,800.00. Such was more than

\$13,000.00 less than both the November, 1983 appraised value and the claimed sales price to Robert Stonehocker in September, 1985. It is \$7,000.00 less than what Defendant contends was the value determined by the November 20, 1984 appraisal and more than \$1,000.00 less than the price which he paid for the property in September of 1984. Finally, and perhaps most persuasive, is Defendant's own testimony over the objection of Plaintiffs' counsel that he believed the property to have a value of between \$30,000.00 and \$35,000.00 as of the valuation date. Tr. 169, 170. Such evidence as received by the court taken with that addressing the efforts undertaken by the Plaintiffs over a period of some seven months to market the property, which efforts resulted in only one offer having been received and the eventual sale of the property at that offering price, clearly establishes that in all events the trial court would have found the value of the property at \$21,750.00.

In open court, Judge Frederick analyzed the evidence which he had received as to the value of the property, addressed the condition of the property at the time of trustee's sale, efforts made to rehabilitate and market the same and compared the appraisals made by Mr. Paul Maritsas and Mr. Richard Copeland. Tr. 178, 179. It is clear that the additional evidence which Defendant contends he was entitled to submit would have been

neither helpful nor persuasive to the court, even if properly proffered and received.

POINT II.

THE TRUSTEE'S SALE WAS NOT
INVALID AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Plaintiffs' bid at the trustee's sale was not in a specified dollar amount. Tr. 26. Defendant contends that as a consequence the sale was invalid because (1) Plaintiffs' bid was not the highest bid received by the trustee, (2) the trustee was required to postpone the sale and the failure to do so invalidated the same, (3) the trustee failed to require payment of the purchase price in lawful money of the United States at the time of sale and (4) Defendant had insufficient time in which to obtain a separate appraisal more persuasive to the trial court in its determination of fair market value of the property.

1.

SALE WAS TO THE HIGHEST BIDDER.

Section 57-1-27, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, dictates the procedure to be followed by the trustee in conducting a foreclosure sale in accordance with the power of sale provisions of a trust deed against real property. The text of the statute is appended to this brief. In relevant part, the Section provides:

On the date and at the time and place designated in the notice of sale, the trustee or the attorney for the trustee shall sell the property at public auction

to the highest bidder. . . Any person, including the beneficiary or trustee, may bid at the sale. Every bid is considered an irrevocable offer,

Not only was Plaintiffs' the highest bid, it was the only bid. Tr. 12. Mrs. Kathleen Thomas, representing the Plaintiffs at the sale, did not know the fair market value of the property and so did not bid a specific dollar amount, but rather stated that her bid was for the then fair market value of the property. Tr. 12, 13, 25, 26.

Section 57-1-27 outlines the procedure to be followed by the trustee if there are competing bids. When only one bid is given, he has no alternative under the statute other than to sell to that bidder irrespective of the price bid. Such does not disadvantage the trustor for two reasons. First, the trustor has already received the statutory three-month notice of default as prescribed by § 57-1-24, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and the notice of trustee's sale required by § 57-1-25, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Both notices were received by this Defendant. Tr. 167. Secondly, § 57-1-32, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, requires that the fair market value of the property at the time of the sale or the price at which the property is sold by the trustee, whichever is the greater, shall be credited against the unpaid balance of the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security.

The text of the Section 57-1-32 is appended to this brief.

The pertinent part is as follows:

At any time within three months after any sale of property under a trust deed, as hereinabove provided, an action may be commenced to recover the balance due upon the obligation for which the trust deed was given as security. . . . Before rendering judgment, the court shall find the fair market value at the date of sale of the property sold. The court may not render judgment for more than the amount by which the amount of the indebtedness with interest, costs, and expenses of sale, including trustee's and attorney's fees, exceeds the fair market value of the property as of the date of the sale.

At the sale, Mrs. Thomas advised the trustee that she was bidding the fair market value of the property. By so doing, Plaintiffs assured Defendant that he would receive full credit for the then fair market value of the property. Such was in compliance with the safeguards which the statute extended to the Defendant. What then remained to be done was for the Plaintiffs to obtain an appraisal to determine fair market value of the property. They completed that process one month later. Tr. 80. This action was later commenced on February 22, 1988 with the filing of Plaintiffs' Complaint wherein the fair market value of the property was alleged to have been \$22,000.00. R. 2, 5.

Defendant claims that the failure to bid a sum certain violated safeguards extended to him by statute. He has the burden of proving his contention. Concepts, Inc. v. First Security Realty Services, Inc., 743 P.2d 1158, 1159 (1987). For the reasons above given, statutory safeguards were not violated,

and the sale was conducted within the spirit and purpose of the statute. On the other hand, if a technical violation did occur, still the Defendant cannot show, and in fact does not attempt to show, how he has been damaged or prejudiced. The Utah Supreme Court has held that a trustee's sale "will not be set aside unless the interests of the debtor were sacrificed or there was some attendant fraud or unfair dealing." Id. at 1160, quoting McHue v. Church, 583 P.2d 210 at 215, 216 (Alaska 1978).

The Defendant is an attorney licensed to practice in Utah. Tr. 171, 172. He received full legal notice of the sale and yet elected not to attend. Tr. 167, 168. He had some four months time before the scheduled sale date, in which to commission an appraisal to determine fair market value of the property. He did not do so. He testifies that he then believed the property to have had a value between \$30,000.00 and \$35,000.00. If he had availed himself of the safeguards afforded by the statute by both attending the sale and bidding what he then believed to be the value of the property, he would have been the successful purchaser. Kathleen Thomas testified that had the Defendant bid at the sale, she was prepared to bid as high as \$26,000.00. Tr. 13. Clearly, the Defendant would either have induced that higher bid by the Plaintiffs, thereby increasing the credit which he was to have received against his unpaid obligation or would have made a higher bid which would have resulted in his acquiring

title to the property. His failure to do so now precludes his right to claim "foul".

In American Falls Canal Securities Company v. American Savings & Loan Association, 109 Utah Adv. Rep. 21 (1989) the Utah Supreme Court determined as follows:

The principles of waiver and estoppel have application in determining the rights of parties to foreclosure sales. Hence, a party otherwise in position to object to a mortgage foreclosure sale may well be precluded from doing so based upon conduct sufficient to bring into operation the doctrines of waiver and estoppel.

The American Falls court went on to quote from 55 Am Jur 2d, Mortgages § 861:

(A) Mortgagor may by acquiescence and failure to assert his rights at the proper time be estopped to set up irregularities in the foreclosure proceedings to defeat rights of the purchaser. . .

If to any extent, the trustee's sale was not in compliance with statute, neither prejudice nor damage was thereby imposed upon Defendant, and any claim of irregularity otherwise available to the Defendant was waived by his failure to attend the trustee's sale and avail himself of available statutory safeguards.

2.

THE TRUSTEE WAS NOT REQUIRED TO
POSTPONE THE TRUSTEE'S SALE.

Defendant asserts that because Plaintiffs' bid was only for the fair market value then remaining to be determined, rather than a specific dollar amount, that the trustee did not actually

receive a designated price and therefore was required to either postpone or re-notice the sale. The obligation of the trustee to postpone or re-notice sale is found in § 57-1-27, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The pertinent part is as follows:

The person conducting the sale may, for any cause he considers expedient, postpone the sale up to a period not to exceed 72 hours. Notice of such postponement shall be given by public declaration thereof by such person at the time and place last appointed for the sale. . . In the event of a longer postponement, the sale shall be cancelled and renoticed. . . .

Clearly, the statute places postponement and cancellation within the prerogative of the trustee. The only conditions imposed have to do with notice of postponement or cancellation. Plaintiffs' trustee received their bid, not in a specific dollar amount, but nevertheless in a sum certain, that being whatever amount then represented the fair market value of the property. It was then his obligation to sell the property to Plaintiffs who would thereupon be required as a condition of this action, to establish to the satisfaction of the trial court the fair market value of the property at the time of sale and to credit that amount against Defendant's unpaid obligation.

3.

PLAINTIFFS WERE NOT REQUIRED TO PAY
FOR THE PROPERTY IN LAWFUL MONEY
OF THE UNITED STATES AT TIME OF SALE

Defendant contends without any reference to the record that the Defendant, as trustor under the subject deed of trust, had

given instructions that the purchase price was "payable in lawful money of the United States at the time of sale". There is no evidence of such instruction having been given, and it has no statutory basis. The issue of payment at the time of trustee's sale was not raised below and therefore is not properly raised here.

Plaintiffs request this court take judicial notice that it is the standard practice in this jurisdiction for a foreclosing beneficiary under a deed of trust to place its bid with the trustee at the time of sale. Additionally, that if that bid is for an amount equal to or less than the then unpaid balance of the obligation for which the deed of trust is given as security and the bid is the highest bid received by the trustee, the trustee thereupon declares the beneficiary as the successful purchaser of the property and executes and delivers his trustee's deed to that purchasing beneficiary without requiring the beneficiary to make payment to the trustee.

Utah R. Evid. 201 provides for judicial notice of adjudicative facts. This court has recognized its power to take judicial notice pursuant to the rule although raised for the first time on appeal. Trimble Real Estate v. Monte Vista Ranch, 758 P.2d 451, 456 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). The matter of which the court is requested to take judicial notice is of common knowledge among members of the bar and bench of this jurisdiction.

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